
Housing Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 16 January 2018 at 7.00 pm
Board Rooms 3, 4 & 5 - Brent Civic Centre

Membership:

Members Substitute Members
Councillors: Councillors:
Long (Chair)
Ms Shaw (Vice-Chair)
S Choudhary
Daly
Harrison
Hylton
Kabir
Naheerathan

Conneely, Hector, Hoda-Benn, Jones, Nerva, Shahzad 
and Ketan Sheth

For further information contact: Nikoleta Nikolova, Governance Officer, tel: 0208 
937 1587, Nikoleta.Nikolova@brent.gov.uk

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit:

www.brent.gov.uk/committees

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting

mailto:Nikoleta.Nikolova@brent.gov.uk


2

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest:
If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, they 
must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent and 
must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item. 
If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must declare its 
existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent.
If the Personal Interest is also a Prejudicial Interest (i.e. it affects a financial position or relates to 
determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission, or registration) then (unless an 
exception at 14(2) of the Members Code applies), after  disclosing the interest to the meeting the 
Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item, except that they may 
first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating to the matter, provided that 
the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes.

*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests:
(a) Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit gain.
(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect expenses in carrying out 

duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union. 
(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 

their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council.
(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area.
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer.
(f) Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest.
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital.

**Personal Interests:
The business relates to or affects:
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, and:

 To which you are appointed by the council;
 which exercises functions of a public nature;
 which is directed is to charitable purposes;
 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 

political party of trade union).
(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least £50 as 

a member in the municipal year; 
or
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting, to a greater 
extent than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the electoral ward 
affected by the decision, the well-being or financial position of:

 You yourself;
 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 

association or any person or body who employs or has appointed any of these or in whom 
they have a beneficial interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of 
£25,000, or any firm in which they are a partner, or any company of which they are a 
director

 any body of a type described in (a) above



3

Agenda
Introductions, if appropriate.

Item Page

1 Declarations of interests 

Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the existence 
and nature of any relevant disclosable pecuniary, personal or prejudicial 
interests in the items on this agenda and to specify the item/s to which 
that interest relates.

2 Minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 4

To approve the attached minutes from the previous meeting on 1 
November 2017 as a correct record.

3 Matters arising (if any) 

To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting. 

4 Deputations (if any) 

To hear any deputations received from members of the public in 
accordance with Standing Order 67. 

5 Petitions (if any) 

To discuss any petitions from members of the public, in accordance with 
Standing Order 66.

6 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) rent setting 5 - 12

The report sets out the proposal for the 2018/19 rent and service charges 
to Cabinet as part of the Rent Report as well as an overview of the 
Council’s proposed capital investment spend for the housing stock 
including the travellers site at Lynton Close. 

7 Fire Safety Task Group Report 13 - 34

This report set out the findings and recommendations of the recent task 
group into Fire Safety of Low-Rise Domestic Properties.



4

8 Brent based Registered Providers (RP) delivery of social housing 35 - 42

The report takes a detailed look at the largest Registered Providers 
operating in the borough over the next quarter, focusing on one landlord 
every month as well as the level and quality of services they deliver to 
local residents.
 

9 Brent’s Housing Associations: scrutiny task group report (July 2016) 43 - 48

This report updates Housing Scrutiny Committee on the changes made to 
the Council’s work with Housing Associations in Brent, and relates these 
to the recommendations in the scrutiny task group report of July 2016.

10 Review short-listed candidates as co-opted members for the 
Committee 

49 - 52

The paper sets out proposed co-opted members to the committee, 
following a selection process as previously agreed by members.

11 Scaffolding protocol (verbal item) 

12 Any other urgent business 

Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Head of Executive and Member Services or his representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 60.

Date of the next meeting: Thursday 22 February 2018

 Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting.
 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 

members of the public.



 

 
MINUTES OF THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Wednesday 1 November 2017 at 6.30 pm 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor Long (Chair), Councillor Ms Shaw (Vice-Chair) and Councillors 
S Choudhary, Daly, Harrison, Kabir and Naheerathan 
 

 
Also Present: Councillor Ketan Sheth 

 
 

1. Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  
 
None. 
 

2. Declarations of interests  
  
None. 
 

3. Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 14 September 2017, 
be approved as an accurate record. 
 

4. Matters arising (if any)  
 
None 
 

5. Deputations (if any)  
 
None. 
 

6. Petitions (if any)  
 
None. 
 

7. Leaseholder Services  
 
Dawn Martin (Head of Income and Leasehold) introduced the item and answered 
members’ questions. Referencing the report, she informed the Committee about the 
Section 20 consultation process and the various schedules which come under it 
before service charges can be collected. She continued by explaining the 
engagement processes in place for both tenants and leaseholders and gave details 
on payment plan options available to leaseholders.  
 
During the discussion which centred on resident engagement, commissioning works 
and payment options, councillors expressed particular concerns about the level of 
engagement with leaseholders, ongoing issues with communication and lack of 
consultation with resident associations. In response to members questions officers 



 
Housing Scrutiny Committee - 1 November 2017 

explained that the consultation process depended largely on an effective long-term 
planning of the capital investment programme, particularly with regards to asset 
management. Officers highlighted a commitment to improve the overall consultation 
process within the Council including to ensure quality of commissioned works.  
 
Members heard that although there was a strong understanding of the need to find 
the right balance in decision making and feasibility assessments, the Council had an 
overarching obligation to maintain its stock in good condition. Depending on the type 
of schedule being served and level of repairs required the Council would either invite 
residents to nominate contractors, use framework contractors or refer to long term 
contractors to resolve it. Members were reassured that the correct legal processes 
were being followed throughout and the appropriate level of consultation had been 
applied on each occasion. Members also heard that a batch of Section 20 works had 
been put on hold and their release was planned to be trialled under the proposed 
new process.  
 
The Committee also discussed the issue of payment of major works bills and ways 
of raising better awareness about the different options available to residents.  
Referencing point 7.1 from the report officers explained that various payment options 
were available including payment plans, resident income maximisation, and 
communal sinking funds and in certain cases - release of equity, with the notices 
used to give a clear indication of the works planned and an estimation of the costs.  
In addition, officers stated that additional support was available through the Council’s 
financial inclusion team for any residents facing payment difficulties and ten year 
payment plans were available for bills over £6,101. Members heard that the Council 
had a legal responsibility to charge actual costs of works and where challenges to 
estimates arose these would be put through the Council’s property services team for 
further investigation. Assurances were given that in the case of any cost which had 
been incorrectly imposed, the overcharged amount would be levied off the final bill 
or, if already charged, a refund or credits would be given. Payment options, including 
sinking fund, were being considered under the transformation process.  
 
Councillors mentioned that the presented report made reference only to the Landlord 
and Tenant Act 1985 but not to the Common Law Act 2003, which superseded it. 
This was discussed and it was resolved that the report would be subsequently 
amended to reflect this change.  
 
 
RESOLVED that: 

i. The report is amended to make reference to both Landlord and Tenant Act 

1985 and Common Law Act 2003. 

ii. Further information on number of framework agreements and accompanying 

legislative processes to be provided to the Committee. 

iii. Further information on number of qualifying long term contracts including fire 

safety works be presented to the committee, specifying total cost and 

duration of each contract to be provided to the Committee. 

iv. Report on resident engagement plan with timeline for delivery of final 

document to be submitted by 17 November 2017. 

v. Update on the review of payment options  

vi. Update on number of outstanding Section 20 bills since FY14. 



 
Housing Scrutiny Committee - 1 November 2017 

vii. Update on the collection of major works since FY14. 

 
8. Brent's Housing Associations: Scrutiny Task Group Report (July 2016)  

 
RESOLVED that a report be shared addressing the items included within the original 
notification by 17 November 2017.  
 
 

9. Housing Complaints  
 
(Councillor Shaw left the meeting at 8.25pm) 
 

Hakeem Osinaike (Operational Director, Housing) introduced the report and 
answered members’ questions. Referencing point 3.5 from the report he informed 
members that the overall number of complaints had been gradually decreasing, 
which was an indicator for an improving service. 
 
In the discussion which followed, members queried the procedures followed with 
regards to members’ enquiries, insisting that no specific protocol was in place to deal 
specifically with members’ complaints or escalate them further. Responding to 
members questions regarding the increase in private housing services complaints, 
officers stated that contract management was an area that required further 
improvement and that this would be tackled through the reorganisation of the housing 
service and improvement of process and protocols. 
 
(Councillor Daly left the meeting at 8.31pm) 
 

RESOLVED that: 
 

i. Brent Complaints Procedure to be circulated to committee members 

ii. Report on impact on licensing scheme on private rented sector tenants to be 

presented to the Committee in the next municipal year. 

 
10. Housing Scrutiny Committee's Work Programme 2017-18  

 
RESOLVED that the contents of the updated Housing Scrutiny Committee’s Work 
Programme 2017-18 report, be noted. 
 

11. Any other urgent business  
 
None. 
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 8.35 pm 
 
 
 
J LONG 
Chair 





 

 

 
Housing Scrutiny Committee  

16 January 2018 
  

Report from the Strategic Director 
of Community Wellbeing 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Rent Setting 

 

Wards Affected:  All 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  N/A 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

No. of Appendices: N/A 

Background Papers:  N/A 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Hakeem Osinaike, Operational Director Housing, 
hakeem.osinaike@brent.gov.uk 

 

 
1.0 Purpose   

 
1.1 This report sets out the proposal for the 2018/19 rent and service charges to 

cabinet as part of the Rent Report.  The report also provides an overview of the 
Council’s proposed capital investment spend for the housing stock including the 
travellers site at Lynton Close. Together with an outline summary of the 
proposed mitigation associated with the Universal Credit roll out. 
 

1.2 The report will enable the Scrutiny Committee to review and comment on the 
abovementioned proposals ahead of the Cabinet meeting. 

 
2.0 Capital Programme  
 
2.1 The HRA Business Plan will consider what the council’s investment strategy is 

to be. This will be dependent upon the Housing Asset Management Strategy 
which will be prepared for Cabinet approval in December 2018.  
 

2.2 The proposed 18/19 capital budgets is set at £27.65m for HRA major works 
(includes £1m for disabled adaptations and £2m fire safety) and £19m budget 
for HRA new builds. 

 

mailto:hakeem.osinaike@brent.gov.uk


2.3 A comprehensive stock condition survey will be procured in April 2018 to 
support the development of the strategy. However, it is already understood 
that the key proposals are to develop plans for improving the external 
environment of estates and the external fabric of blocks. 

 
2.4 The opportunities to improve thermal efficiency and to review the way in which 

residents and visitors circulate within the estate, estate security and how 
parking and refuse is managed will be primary considerations of the 
strategy.  This will be supported by proposals to soften the often hard 
landscapes prevalent on a significant number of estates following consultation 
and feasibility work during 2019/20.  

 
2.5 In addition, it is the Council intention to consider maximising technological 

opportunities to make our blocks ‘smart’ e.g. auto reporting on faults in 
boilers, fire doors as well as developing programmes for the replacement of 
windows and doors, roofs, electrical laterals and capital programmes for 
compliance related matters such as fire safety, water tanks and rewiring 
homes in 2018/19 

 
3 Fire Safety  
 
3.1 Cabinet has provided approval for the fire safety improvement programme to 

be integrated within the HRA capital investment programme and that three 
tower blocks per year are to be completed. This means all blocks over 12 
storey will be complete within 5 years.  To inform the fire safety improvement 
programme a comprehensive FRA4 programme will be procured in May 2018 
to include low and medium rise blocks in the programme, but the programme 
of assessments would be prioritised, starting with the 14 high rise blocks 
above 12 storey’s, then moving to the other high rise block before moving to 
the medium and low rise.  

 
3.2 The findings from the Type 4 surveys will have a significant bearing on the fire 

strategy of the building and the prioritisation of the improvement works. 
Integrating the fire improvement works with the planned maintenance 
programme will be more efficient, both in terms resource and efforts required 
to mobilise and deliver the required works.  Together with demonstrate value 
to residents and minimising disruption 

 
3.3 The planned work mentioned above may include refurbishments such as; new 

roofs, facades, windows, lifts, kitchens, bathrooms and heating systems. We 
want the projects to be meaningful and act as beacons in the borough for 
innovation and progress. This may make it more palatable for leaseholders as 
an improvement would mean an increase in the quality and value of their 
property. 

 
4 Rent Charges – 2018/19 

4.1 The government’s four-year rent reduction programme requires local 

authorities to reduce rents by 1% each year up to 2020.  All rents will reduce 

in line with this policy from April 2018 and again from April 2019.  The 



proposed average overall rent decrease (excluding service charges) from 

April 2018 of £1.15 per dwelling per week for HRA council dwellings, 

representing an average overall rent decrease of 1%  

 

4.2 The table below compares the average rent levels for 2017/18 and 2018/19 

against the range of bed sizes across the Council’s social housing portfolio 

 

 2017/18 2018/19 

Bed Size Number of 
Properties           

Average of 
net rent    

Number of 
properties           

Average 
of net 
rent    

    £   £ 

0 420 88.15 407 87.27 

1 2483 100.32 2438 99.31 

2 2560 115.55 2522 114.40 

3 2014 126.37 1987 125.04 

4 415 137.08 415 135.71 

5 61 146.91 60 145.44 

6 9 158.55 9 156.96 

Grand Total 7962 113.56 7838 112.41 

 
5.0 Service Charges – 2018/19 

5.1 Service charges are not covered by the rent reduction regime and, subject to 

Cabinet approval, will rise by 4% (an average increase of £0.27 per dwelling 

per week), representing CPI plus 1%.  Note that the average total charge is 

lower than the sum of the various chargeable elements since not all tenants 

receive all services. 

 

5.2 The table below compares the average service charges for 2017/18 and 

2018/19 by the schedule of estate charges 

Service 

 Average 
Charge 
2017/18 

 
Recommended 

Average 
Charge 
2018/19  

Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

(£/Week)  (£/Week)  (£/Week) % 

Concierge 8.78 9.13 0.35 4% 

Communal Lighting 1.36 1.42 0.05 4% 

Grounds 
Maintenance 

1.24 1.29 0.05 4% 

Cleaning (Ext & Int) 6.37 6.62 0.25 4% 

Laundry 2.31 2.40 0.09 4% 

TV Aerial 0.71 0.74 0.03 4% 



Communal Heating 
(District) 

8.16 8.49 0.33 4% 

Hot Water 2.19 2.28 0.09 4% 

Helpline Monitoring 
Service 

1.43 1.49 0.06 4% 

Total charge 6.91 7.18 0.27 4% 

 
6.0   Impact of Universal Credit on Resources 
 
6.1 A key feature of the Housing Operations Transformation Programme is to 

build capacity and resilience across the housing frontline teams to manage 
the range of demands from residents including income maximisation and 
tenancy sustainment.  Our new target operating model will take into 
consideration the resource levels and skills required to mitigate the risks 
associated with Universal Credit both for the Council and local residents. 

 
6.2 Brent Housing Management (BHM) have already started engaging with the 

Corporate Welfare Reform Group who have been working with other 
registered providers (RPs) to develop a strategy to mitigate the associated 
risks .  A sub operational group is being formed to focus on the roll out of 
Universal Credit in Brent.  

 
6.3 In summary, BHM will put in place a range of operational mitigations to 

include the following: 
a) Raise awareness with residents about Universal Credit, including what it 

means for them 
b) Develop future delivery partnership with DWP 
c) Establish delivery partnership agreement that supports the most 

vulnerable 
d) Increase provision for digital inclusion and improve capacity for residents 

to manage accounts independently  
e) Continue to review Strategy for maximising rent collection that reflects 

Universal Credit implications for transition and Full Service  
 
7.0 Rent restructure at Lynton Close 
 
7.1 The rent setting process for pitches at Lynton Close is the sole responsibility 

of the Council and decided through the formal democratic process.  The 
current individual pitch rent for 2017/18 is £240.20 which includes the 1% 
reduction in line with legislation.  In addition to the levied for the rental of the 
pitch, residents rent their mobile homes from a private provider - Jenkins. The 
mobile home provider is permitted under legislation to charge up to the value 
as the rental charge. In practice, they levy the maximum amount allowable, 
effectively doubling the cost to the resident to £480.40 per week.  

 
7.2 This rent level is extremely high when compared with the pitch rent with 

authorised Gypsy and Travellers sites elsewhere in the country that are under 
the control of local authorities.  The insourcing of the management services 
will provide the Council with an opportunity to reduce the rent levels which will 
force Jenkins to reduce the amount charged for the rental of the pitches. 



 
7.3 The table below summarises the proposed rent levels for 2018/19 and how 

this compares to the previous two years. 
 

Descriptions 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

 Charges Charges Charges 

 £ £ £ 

Weekly Rent 242 240 144 

Total Weekly Rental 
Income £ (31 lots) 7,502 £7,440 4,464 

Annual Rental Income 390,104 386,880 232,128 

 
7.4 There has been no investment at Lynton Close for a number of years, this is 

as a result of lack allocated capital funding and asset planning.  There is an 
emerging capital investment plan which will seek to completely modernise 
core property components across the site.  This will act as a catalyst for the 
implementation of a new rent setting policy, which will be based on the 
following principles: 

 A further review of the base rent for each pitch in line with the Local 
Housing Allowance threshold.  This review will be based on the median 
base rent charges by London authorities 

 Application of a service charge provision to cover legitimate cost that the 
Council incur for things such as grounds maintenance, communal 
electricity and general estate services 

 Recommendations will be provided to Cabinet for creation of a sinking 
fund for future planned works 

 Future rent reviews will be subject to the provision allowed for within 
legislation 

 
7.5 The current rental income generated by the site each year is 386,880, and 

expenditure is £383,957.  The table below provides a breakdown of the total 
service cost for the site.  

 

Expenditure Annual cost (£) 

Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) Management Fee 231,228 

* BHP Management fee 42,458 

Bad Debt Provision 88,294 

Repairs  21,977 

Total Cost 383,957 

* Cost up to the 2 October when the Housing Management service was 
brought back in-house 

 
7.6 The management services currently provided by Oxfordshire City Council 

makes up over 60% of the total service cost.  The insourcing of the 
management service will generate a significant cost savings to the Council’s 
general fund, which will have a positive cumulative impact on funding for 
future investment works.   

 



8.0 Impact of Universal Credit on new rent levels for residents at Lynton 
Close 

 
8.1 There are currently no resident from Lynton Close impacted by the partial roll 

out of Universal Credit.  It is anticipated that the impact of this change will take 
effect from November 2019, though will only apply to residents who have had 
a change of circumstances.   

 
8.2 The emerging proposed rent levels will be in line with the local housing 

allowance threshold.  This will minimise the risks associated with the 
Universal Credit change. 

 
9.0 Planned Refurbishment Works at Lynton Close  
 
9.1 A comprehensive refurbishment programme is being worked up to bring the 

pitches up to a modern standard.  A report is scheduled to go to the Capital 
Investment Board in February seeking approval to deliver the aforementioned 
programme.  All associated work will be funded from the general fund capital 
budget. 

 
10.0 Financial Implications  
 
10.1 Income from rents is a key driver of the total income available to the HRA, 

making up 88% of total income budget in 2018/19. The policy for rent 
therefore effects the resources available to re-invest in expenditure plans 
across the HRA and to deliver the outcomes outlined in the 30 year HRA 
business plan for all tenants. 

 
10.2 As a result of the 1% rent reduction and the impact of stock losses from Right 

to Buy, the rental income has reduced by £463k compared to amounts 
receivable in 2017/18, and an estimated total loss in cash terms of £1.8m due 
to the Welfare and Reform Act between 2016/17 to 2019/20. 

 
10.3  The phased introduction of Universal Credit which will bring direct payment of 

housing benefit to tenants will have an impact on rent collection figures and 
costs, meaning both expenditure and income will be put under pressure. The 
impacts will need to be closely monitors and bad debt provisions adjusted 
accordingly. 

 
10.4 The 30 Year Business Plan assumes full recovery of leaseholder major works, 

the assumed profiling means that a high level of funding in advance of works 
is required, it is therefore crucial that leaseholder major works debt is pursued 
in a robust manner as failure to do so will result in budget pressures within 
the HRA and increased borrowing. 

 
11.0 Legal Implications  
 
11.1 Under section 74 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (“the 1989 

Act”), the Council is required to keep a separate Housing Revenue Account 
(“HRA”) of sums falling to be credited or debited in respect of its housing stock. 



Sections 75 and 76 of the 1989 Act set out the rules for establishing and 
maintaining that 12 account. Under section 76 of the 1989 Act, the Council is 
required to formulate in January and February of each year proposals for the 
HRA for the following year which satisfy the requirements of that section and 
which relate to income, expenditure and any other matters which the Secretary 
of state has directed shall be included. 

 
11.2 In formulating these proposals the Council must secure that upon their 

implementation the HRA will not show a debit balance assuming that the best 
assumptions and best estimates it can make at the time prove to be correct. 
Put simply, the legislation requires the Council to prevent a debit balance, to 
act reasonable in making assumptions and estimates and to act prudently. The 
1989 Act also requires the authority to review the proposals from time to time 
and make such adjustments as are necessary to ensure that the requirements, 
as set out above, continue to be met. This report sets out the forecast outturn 
for the current financial year and also the proposals for the coming year. 
 

11.3 The Council may make such reasonable charges as it so determines for the 
tenancy or occupation of their dwellings and shall review those rents and 
charges from time to time. In so doing the Council shall have regard to the 
principle that the rents for different types of houses should bear broadly the 
same proportion to private sector rents for those different types of houses. This 
means that the difference between the Local Authority rent for, say, a bedsit 
and a two bed house with a garden should be broadly comparable to the 
difference between the rents for those types of dwellings in the private sector. 
In making such reasonable charges officers have given consideration to the 
Government’s policy aims of introducing social housing rents that will ultimately 
produce rents being set (both in the council and Registered Provider/RSL 
sectors) on a nationally determined basis (whilst taking into account local 
factors such as the value of dwellings). This aim is not prescriptive in so much 
it remains the responsibility of the local housing authority to set rents.  
 

11.4 The Council’s discretion as to setting rents is now subject to the mandatory 
provisions of the Welfare Reform Act 2016, which become law on 16 March 
2016. Section 23 of the 2016 Act requires that as from 1 April 2016 for a period 
of four years, an annual reduction of the rent payable by social tenants. 
Schedule 2 to the 2016 Act introduces, for a period of 4 years, requirements 
about the maximum levels of rent for social tenancies beginning after the 
beginning of 8 July 2015. These requirements apply to tenancies of new homes 
and re-lets to a new tenant, but not the grant of a new tenancy to an existing 
tenant. The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 (Commencement No. 1) 
Regulations 2016 set out exceptions to and circumstances in which exemptions 
may be given from the rent reduction regime otherwise applicable, and make 
alternative provision for certain excepted categories. In respect of social rent 
properties, the mandatory reduction applies to the rent element and not to 
service charges. The rent income estimates included for 2017/18 are based 
upon the rent reductions required under the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 
and adjusted for Right to Buy. 

 



11.5 The main duties upon local authorities as landlords in relation to fire safety are 
covered by the Housing Act 2004 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
and the Housing Act 2004. Local housing authorities as landlords also need to 
give comply with other statutory requirements that are set out in the Gas safety 
(Installation and Use) Regulations 1998, the Electrical Equipment (Safety) 
Regulations 1994 and the Furniture and Furnishings Act 1988. 

   
12.0 Equality Implications 
 
12.1 There are no equality implicated associated with the content of this report 
 

13.0 Consultation with Ward Members and Stakeholders 
 
13.1 None  
 
14.0 Human Resources/Property Implications (if appropriate) 
 
14.1 There are no human resources/property implications associated with the 

content of this report  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Report sign off:   
 
PHIL PORTER 
Strategic Director of Community 
Wellbeing 
 



Housing Scrutiny Committee
16 January 2018

 
Report from the Strategic Director 

of Performance Policy & 
Partnerships

Task group report on fire safety of low-rise domestic 
properties

Wards Affected: All
Key or Non-Key Decision: N/A
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices: 1
Background Papers: N/A
Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Mark Cairns, Policy & Scrutiny Manager, 
mark.cairns@brent.gov.uk

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 This report set out the findings and recommendations of the recent task group 
into Fire Safety of Low-Rise Domestic Properties.

2.0 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 The Housing Scrutiny Committee is recommended to endorse the report at 
Appendix 1 and the recommendations contained therein.

3.0 Detail 

3.1     Following the fatal fire at Grenfell Tower in June 2017 there has been significant 
focus by different levels of government on the fire safety of domestic properties 
across the country. Nationally, this includes the Department for Communities and 
Local Government’s Building Safety Programme, a public inquiry into the 
circumstances of the fire, and the Independent Review of Building Regulations 
and Fire Safety. In Brent, the council has published its fire risk assessments 
(FRAs) for council properties, and updated the 2017-18 housing works 
programme to include fire safety measures for tower blocks. The council has 
further agreed for £10 million to be spent on a package of enhanced fire safety 
measures for high rise blocks, and undertaken a number of other measures.  



3.2     However, the majority of fire events occur in low rise properties, and so the task 
group felt there was a compelling case to investigate fire safety measures for 
these in addition to high rise blocks. It set out to examine fire safety measures 
for council housing and social housing managed by registered providers (RPs), 
as well as how they communicate with their tenants and leaseholders in respect 
of these issues. The group also looked at housing allocations policy, the risks 
posed by bulky items in common areas, and emergency vehicle access for 
social housing estates.

3.3 Social landlords have completed FRAs for all high rise blocks (18m and above) 
apart from street properties. The council has published its assessments online, 
and the RPs who met the group had mostly completed their FRAs, with the 
remaining few to be completed by March 2018. However, this is inconsistent 
amongst landlords and amongst types of property. The task group believes that 
all residents should benefit from the information and reassurance provided by 
making these assessments publicly available.

3.4 Evidence considered by the task group indicates that licensing for landlords has 
raised safety standards, and it concluded that it is of the greatest importance 
that the council does everything it can to raise awareness of landlords’ 
obligations under this scheme amongst tenants.

3.5 A personal emergency plan exists for each vulnerable person, and the local fire 
brigade is provided notification of their location and vulnerability. The task group 
felt that it was important for this information to be regularly updated.

3.6 Bulky items stored in communal areas can pose a fire risk, or an obstruction to 
escape in the event of a fire. However, the task group was concerned that some 
landlords may not be proactive in their attitudes towards clearing these. It also 
recognised that storage space is an important factor in this regard, particularly 
for vulnerable residents who may rely on bulky equipment.

3.7 The issue of illegal parking in locations meant for the use of emergency vehicles 
was identified by members as an important area of focus. The necessary 
markings and signage to prohibit parking in these locations are often incomplete 
or unclear, and require immediate attention from the council and RPs to ensure 
high standards in safety for all Brent residents. Current parking enforcement 
also has limitations. Data reviewed by the task group demonstrates that better 
communication is required to inform residents where they should not park, and 
stronger policies and practice to deter them from doing so - particularly when 
this can impede the emergency services.

3.8 The task group also found anecdotal evidence that levels of awareness of basic 
fire safety are far from where they should be, and this remains a continuous 
challenge which requires further effort to address.

3.9 The task group has made 11 recommendations, shown below.



Recommendation 1: The council and registered providers in Brent should 
publish the latest Fire Risk Assessments for all of their properties on an ongoing 
basis.

Recommendation 2: In wards where the landlord licensing scheme is in force, 
the council should continue work to raise tenants’ awareness of it (and more 
widely if it is expanded beyond these wards). It should also publish a “plain 
English” guide for tenants on landlords’ obligations under the scheme.

Recommendation 3: The council should better publicise the existing systems 
for residents to anonymously report non-compliant landlords under the landlord 
licence scheme.

Recommendation 4: The council and registered providers should work with 
care providers to ensure that the London Fire Brigade has up-to-date 
information about vulnerable tenants and leaseholders.

Recommendation 5: The council and registered providers should review the 
appropriateness of fire detection systems in properties based on the specific 
needs of their tenants and leaseholders. 

Recommendation 6: All landlords should take a “zero tolerance” approach to 
bulky items kept in common areas.

Recommendation 7: All social landlords should provide storage space for 
bulky items for all property types and sizes.

Recommendation 8: The council should continue to develop plans and seek 
funding for secure bicycle storage units across the borough.

Recommendation 9: The council and registered providers should act to 
reduce unauthorised parking in areas for the use of emergency services, 
including: 

 clearer and better maintained signage and markings to identify those 
areas permitted for car parking, and all those areas which are to be kept 
clear

 improving awareness of traffic and parking rules, and
 stronger enforcement of parking rules.

Recommendation 10: The council and registered providers should regularly use 
their communication channels to inform and raise the awareness of residents 
in relation to fire safety.

Recommendation 11: The council and registered providers should provide, in 
the main entrance of all types of property, floor plans identifying the location of 
fire exits, and clearly and simply explaining what to do in case of a fire.



4.0 Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications of the task group report itself. Any 
implications of implementation of its recommendations will be considered 
when these are presented to Cabinet.

5.0 Legal Implications 

5.1 There are no legal implications of the task group report itself. Any implications 
of implementation of its recommendations will be considered when these are 
presented to Cabinet.

6.0 Equality Implications

6.1 There are no equality implications of the task group report itself. Any 
implications of implementation of its recommendations will be considered 
when these are presented to Cabinet.

7.0 Consultation with Ward Members and Stakeholders

7.1 The task group was made up of members of the committee and others. The 
consultation and views obtained throughout the group’s work are detailed in the 
report.  

8.0 Human Resources/Property Implications

8.1 There are no human resources or property implications of the task group report 
itself. Any implications of implementation of its recommendations will be 
considered when these are presented to Cabinet.

Report sign off:  

Peter Gadsdon
Director of Performance Policy & 
Partnerships



Housing Scrutiny Committee

Task Group on Fire Safety of Low-Rise 
Domestic Properties

January 2018



Contents
1. THE CHAIR’S FOREWORD.............................................................................................3

2. TASK GROUP MEMBERS...............................................................................................4

3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY..................................................................................................5

4. BACKGROUND................................................................................................................7

5. METHODOLOGY ...........................................................................................................11

6. KEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ...............................................................12

Fire Prevention ...................................................................................................................13

Storage of bulky items........................................................................................................14

Emergency vehicle access.................................................................................................14



1. THE CHAIR’S FOREWORD 

Fire has featured prominently in the news in 2017, in the UK and throughout the world. From 
arson attacks which have resulted in deaths, fires on industrial estates requiring road 
closures and evacuation of local residents, the fatal fire at Grenfell Tower, forest fires in 
Portugal and the USA and concluding with the fire in the multi-storey car park in Liverpool.  
One feature is that they make the news and are then pushed down the news agenda. For 
example after the Grenfell Tower the Summer edition of the Brent magazine had a three-
page article on fire safety and a news item on £10 million for fire safety works in council-
owned tower blocks. However the Winter edition had no mention of fire safety in its 56 
pages.

Following Grenfell Tower several Government enquiries and the public inquest have been 
established to look into the cause and aftermath, with a separate enquiry into building 
regulations. But the scene is forever shifting. After the Liverpool multi-storey car park fire 
there will need to be a review of safety measures in car parks beneath residential and office 
blocks.

The focus after Grenfell Tower has been on fire safety in tower blocks. But most people do 
not live in a tower block and most people do not live in council housing. Brent is 
predominantly low-rise properties, eg semi-detached and terraced housing, ie street 
properties. The last major fatal fire in Brent was at a privately rented semi-detached property 
in Sonia Gardens in Neasden. 

In light of the pertinence of this issue at hand and the extensive work by Brent Council on 
improving fire safety for high-rise properties, this task group set out to  examine fire safety 
measures for all low-rise properties under all landlords and in private ownership, where most 
fire incidences and deaths occur. The evidence of fire incidences by property type highlights 
the majority of fire events occur in low rise properties. This is a combination of houses, 
converted and purpose built maisonettes where 61-74% of fires occurred each year between 
2014/15 - 2016/17 compared to 1-5% for high-rise purpose-built flats or maisonettes in the 
same period.

My interest in fire safety began when I was a member of the London Fire and Civil Defence 
Authority (LFCDA) and its successor body, London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority. 
As a borough representative on the LFCDA I was notified of all fire deaths in Brent. Although 
over 15 years ago some still remain with me, particularly the death in the sheltered housing 
scheme and the death in a Money Shop, both in Wembley. Later, as a councillor for Dudden 
Hill ward, I remember the fatal fire in Sonia Gardens. So I am aware that fires can occur in 
any type of property, not just high rise properties. And everyone is responsible for fire safety, 
tenants, landlords and owner-occupiers.

I also learnt the importance of smoke detectors. I still have an old–fashioned battery 
operated smoke alarm but I regularly test it once a month. And I change its battery once a 
year, whether it needs it or not. It is my birthday present to myself. I thank the members of 
the task group for their work, and others who informed and contributed to the findings of this 
report.

Cllr Janice Long
Task Group Chair



2. TASK GROUP MEMBERS

Chair: Cllr Janice Long

Cllr Shafique 
Choudhary   

Cllr John Duffy Cllr Patricia 
Harrison

Cllr Jean Hossain

         
       

http://democracy.brent.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=8859


3. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Following the fatal fire at Grenfell Tower in June 2017 there has been significant focus by 
different levels of government on the fire safety of domestic properties across the country. 
Nationally, this includes the Department for Communities and Local Government’s Building 
Safety Programme, a public inquiry into the circumstances of the fire, and the Independent 
Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety. In Brent, the council has published its fire risk 
assessments (FRAs) for council properties, and updated the 2017-18 housing works 
programme to include fire safety measures for tower blocks. The council has further agreed 
for £10 million to be spent on a package of enhanced fire safety measures for high rise blocks, 
and undertaken a number of other measures.

However, the majority of fire events occur in low rise properties, and so the task group felt 
there was a compelling case to investigate fire safety measures for these in addition to high 
rise blocks. It set out to examine fire safety measures for council housing and social housing 
managed by registered providers (RPs), as well as how they communicate with their tenants 
and leaseholders in respect of these issues. The group also looked at housing allocations 
policy, the risks posed by bulky items in common areas, and emergency vehicle access for 
social housing estates.

Social landlords have completed FRAs for all high rise blocks (18m and above) apart from 
street properties. The council has published its assessments online, and the RPs who met the 
group had mostly completed their FRAs, with the remaining few to be completed by March 
2018. However, this is inconsistent amongst landlords and amongst types of property. The 
task group believes that all residents should benefit from the information and reassurance 
provided by making these assessments publicly available. 

Evidence considered by the task group indicates that licensing for landlords has raised safety 
standards, and it concluded that it is of the greatest importance that the council does 
everything it can to raise awareness of landlords’ obligations under this scheme amongst 
tenants.

A personal emergency plan exists for each vulnerable person, and the local fire brigade is 
provided notification of their location and vulnerability. The task group felt that it was important 
for this information to be regularly updated. 

Bulky items stored in communal areas can pose a fire risk, or an obstruction to escape in the 
event of a fire. However, the task group was concerned that some landlords may not be 
proactive in their attitudes towards clearing these. It also recognised that storage space is an 
important factor in this regard, particularly for vulnerable residents who may rely on bulky 
equipment. 

The issue of illegal parking in locations meant for the use of emergency vehicles was identified 
by members as an important area of focus. The necessary markings and signage to prohibit 
parking in these locations are often incomplete or unclear, and require immediate attention 
from the council and RPs to ensure high standards in safety for all Brent residents. Current 
parking enforcement also has limitations. Data reviewed by the task group demonstrates that 
better communication is required to inform residents where they should not park, and stronger 
policies and practice to deter them from doing so - particularly when this can impede the 
emergency services.

The task group also found anecdotal evidence that levels of awareness of basic fire safety are 
far from where they should be, and this remains a continuous challenge which requires further 
effort to address. 



Recommendations

Recommendation 1: The council and registered providers in Brent should publish the 
latest Fire Risk Assessments for all of their properties on an ongoing basis.

Recommendation 2: In wards where the landlord licensing scheme is in force, the 
council should continue work to raise tenants’ awareness of it (and more widely if it is 
expanded beyond these wards). It should also publish a “plain English” guide for 
tenants on landlords’ obligations under the scheme.

Recommendation 3: The council should better publicise the existing systems for 
residents to anonymously report non-compliant landlords under the landlord licence 
scheme.

Recommendation 4: The council and registered providers should work with care 
providers to ensure that the London Fire Brigade has up-to-date information about 
vulnerable tenants and leaseholders.

Recommendation 5: The council and registered providers should review the 
appropriateness of fire detection systems in properties based on the specific needs of 
their tenants and leaseholders. 

Recommendation 6: All landlords should take a “zero tolerance” approach to bulky 
items kept in common areas.

Recommendation 7: All social landlords should provide storage space for bulky items 
for all property types and sizes.

Recommendation 8: The council should continue to develop plans and seek funding 
for secure bicycle storage units across the borough.

Recommendation 9: The council and registered providers should act to reduce 
unauthorised parking in areas for the use of emergency services, including: 

 clearer and better maintained signage and markings to identify those areas 
permitted for car parking, and all those areas which are to be kept clear

 improving awareness of traffic and parking rules, and
 stronger enforcement of parking rules.

Recommendation 10: The council and registered providers should regularly use their 
communication channels to inform and raise the awareness of residents in relation to 
fire safety.

Recommendation 11: The council and registered providers should provide, in the main 
entrance of all types of property, floor plans identifying the location of fire exits, and 
clearly and simply explaining what to do in case of a fire.



4. BACKGROUND

National Context
Following the fatal fire at Grenfell Tower in June 2017 there has been significant focus by local 
and central government on the fire safety of domestic properties across the country. The 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) established the Building Safety 
Programme in July to identify buildings which are of concern through a thorough checking and 
testing process.

The Prime Minister also announced a public inquiry into the circumstances of the fire, and the 
findings of this inquiry will have a significant impact on fire safety measures and practice when 
these are reported. Based on the terms of reference issued for the inquiry it is likely that 
building regulations, fire regulations and other legislation will be subject to reform, as well as 
guidance and industry practice relating to the design, construction, equipping and 
management of high-rise residential buildings. 

There is also an Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety, which will report 
to the Government in Spring 2018, considering the current regulatory system for planning, 
design, construction, maintenance, refurbishment and change management; as well as the 
roles of key individuals within the system in ensuring that fire safety standards are met.

Brent Context
Brent experienced a dramatic shift in the tenure of households between 2001 and 2011 with 
a decrease in owner-occupation from 56% to 44% of the borough’s households. Meanwhile, 
the proportion of private rented households nearly doubled to 32%, and the proportion of social 
rented households held steady at 24%.1

The council’s annual programme of Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) for council properties was 
completed between March-May 2017 and can be found on the Brent website.2 The actions 
resulting from the FRAs were mainly responsive repairs (eg replacing a damaged flat door); 
compliance checks on installations (eg boilers and self-closing mechanisms on doors) and 
staff training issues (eg fire safety awareness and the use of fire extinguishers).

The council has updated the 2017-18 housing works programme to include fire safety 
measures for tower blocks following the Grenfell Tower fire. On 10th July 2017 the council 
further agreed for £10 million to be spent on a package of enhanced fire safety measures for 
high rise blocks such as sprinklers, smoke detectors and fire alarms. Council officers 
developed a fully itemised and costed programme of fire safety work, outlining the enhanced 
fire detection equipment that could be installed, over and above the required standard.

Along with increasing funding, the council has undertaken a number of measures to inspect 
smoke detectors for council properties, improve awareness of the mitigation measures in place 
for civil emergencies; and also improve awareness of fire risks, including hosting local 
meetings between July and October 2017.

The evidence of fire incidents by property type in Table 1 highlights that the majority of fire 
events occur in low rise properties. This is a combination of houses, converted and purpose 
built maisonettes where 61-74% of fires occurred each year between 2014/15 and 2016/17. 
In the same period, properties with 10 or more storeys saw only 1-5% of fires.

1 ‘The 2011 Census: A Profile of Brent’, Brent Council, 2013;
2 https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/housing/fire-safety-in-brent/ 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/services-for-residents/housing/fire-safety-in-brent/


For this reason, the task group felt there was a compelling case to investigate fire safety 
measures for low-rise domestic properties  in addition to high rise blocks. It set out to examine 
fire safety measures for council housing and social housing managed by registered providers 
(RPs), as well as how they communicate with their tenants and leaseholders in respect of 
these issues. 

Along with the above, the group also wanted to look at housing allocations policy, and how 
this takes into account residents’ ability to respond to fire and other emergency incidents; the 
risks posed by bulky items (such as buggies and bicycles) in common areas, and the impact 
of storage space on these risks; and emergency vehicle access for social housing estates, 
and how parking enforcement could help ensure and improve this.



Table 1: Evidence of fire incidents by property type 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Fire Fire FireProperty 

Class
Property Type Detailed Property Type Fires

Deaths
Fires

Deaths
Fires

Deaths
Converted Flat/Maisonette - Up to 2 
storeys 

43  40  26 1
Converted 
Flats/Maisonettes Converted Flat/Maisonettes - 3 or more 

storeys
6  11  16  

House - single occupancy 85  85 1 77  
Self-contained Sheltered Housing 9  7  11  
Other Dwelling 1    Dwelling
Caravan/Mobile home (permanent 
dwelling)

1    

Licensed House in Multiple Occupation - 
Up to 2 storeys 

2  3  3  

House in Multiple Occupation - Up to 2 
storeys (not known if licensed) 

4  2  2  

Licensed House in Multiple Occupation - 
3 or more storeys 

1  5  1  

Unlicensed House in Multiple Occupation 
- Up to 2 storeys 

3   4  

House in Multiple Occupation - 3 or more 
storeys (not known if licensed)

2  3   

House in Multiple 
Occupation

Unlicensed House in Multiple Occupation 
- 3 or more storeys 

1   1  

Purpose Built Flats/Maisonettes - Up to 3 
storeys 

44  55  49  

Purpose Built Flats/Maisonettes - 4 to 9 
storeys 

19  18  32  

Dwelling

Purpose Built 
Flats/Maisonettes
 Purpose Built Flats/Maisonettes - 10 or 

more storeys 
6  3  12  

Other Residential Home 2  3  3  Other 
Residential Other Residential Hostel (e.g. for homeless people) 3   3  



Student Hall of Residence 2   1  
Hotel/motel 1   1  
Nurses'/Doctors' accommodation 1  1   
Youth hostel 1    
Boarding House/B&B for 
homeless/asylum seekers 

  1   

Boarding House/B&B other 1    
Sheltered Housing : not self-contained 1    
Retirement/Old Persons Home 2  4  3  
Nursing/Care Home/Hospice 3  2 1 3  

Residential Home
 

Children's Home       
Grand Total 244 0 243 2 248 1

Source: London Fire Brigade, July 2017



5. METHODOLOGY

As part of this review the task group invited relevant partners to contribute through discussion 
groups, meetings and visits. Evidence-gathering included interviews with officers from Brent 
Council, Housing Associations and London Fire Brigade, as well as secondary quantitative 
data collated from experts.

The task group organised three meetings with officers from Brent Council, Housing 
Associations and London Fire Brigade:

Date Stakeholder

27 Oct 2017  Mark Davidson, London Fire Brigade (Brent)
 

13 Nov 2017

 Laurence Coaker, Head of Housing Needs, Brent Council 
 Sean Gallagher, Head of Service - Housing Management Property, 

Brent Council
 Troy Francis, Head of Service - Housing Management Customer 

Services, Brent Council
 Spencer Randolph, Head of Private Housing Services, Brent 

Council
 John Flynn, Team Manager – Major Projects, Brent Council
 Lavdrim Krashi, Service Manager – Accommodation Services, Brent 

Council
 Mark Austin, Wing Parking

15 Nov 2017

 Wayne Davies, Director of Asset Management, Catalyst
 Paul Eccles, Catalyst
 Suraj Shah, Head of Strategic Asset Management, Network Homes
 Grahame Hines, CEO, Octavia
 Lewis Lowe, Octavia
 Geeta Le Tissier, External Contracts Manager, Brent Council



6. KEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
Social landlords referred to here include Brent Council and the three registered providers 
(RPs) that attended task group meetings (Catalyst Homes, Network Homes and Octavia).

There has been much activity to review fire safety in the wake of the Grenfell Tower fire. Given 
the public inquiry and independent review mentioned above, the task group decided that it 
would be better to focus its attention on other areas not covered by their remits, so as to make 
the best use of its capacity. 

The Government’s Building Safety Programme mentioned above is identifying high rise 
buildings with Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) cladding (ie the same cladding used for 
Grenfell Tower, which led to the intensity of the fire). For those blocks where this is the case, 
landlords mentioned that they have taken appropriate measures of appointing wardens to 
oversee the properties 24 hours per day, until definitive solutions are identified. The cladding 
is being tested, and where necessary measures are being taken to replace the cladding with 
an adequate alternative material. 

Social landlords told the task group that the need for urgent fire safety works warranted 
immediate activity without the usual statutory consultation with leaseholders. Their position 
was that these works can be scrutinised by member and resident panels in the future. They 
have, however, have been quick to develop a communication strategy to inform residents 
through printed material and public meetings on fire safety, prevention and mitigation in the 
case of a fire event. Landlords are also developing training for their staff based on observation 
of the usage of the property and interaction with residents.

Social landlords have completed Type 1 FRAs for all high rise blocks (18m and above) apart 
from street properties. These FRAs are for common parts of the block only, and non-
destructive in their testing method. Brent Council has published its assessments online, 
however to ensure higher levels of safety and provide reassurance to residents, it plans to 
undertake Type 4 assessments (ie including flats, and using destructive testing methods) for 
all blocks in two phases from November 2017 to March 2019, which will test the strength of 
compartmentation. This involves the division of a building into cells, using construction 
materials that will prevent the passage of fire from one cell to another for a given period of 
time, and is widely agreed as the most effective fire safety measure.

The task group was told that future Type 1 FRAs by the council will take into consideration 
residents’ behaviour, in relation to issues such as the removal of bulky items, testing fire 
alarms at home and creating networks between residents regardless of tenure type. This will 
require further resident consultation to ensure ownership of any new processes, instruments 
and schemes for fire safety. 

The RPs who met the group had mostly completed their FRAs, and the remaining few would 
be completed by March 2018. Catalyst have published their fire action notices and street 
properties have new fire and heat alarms. In the wake of the Grenfell Fire, social landlords 
also have placed their street properties and Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMO) on full 
evacuation notices during a fire event. Caretakers monitor fire safety doors in common areas, 
and rise areas are kept clear (though some schemes have permanent caretakers while others 
are overseen by cleaning staff). 

Network Homes have completed Types 1 and 4 FRAs for all buildings. Where front and fire 
doors in common areas were found to be inadequate, most of the RPs agreed to replace them 
free of charge for leaseholders. Properties found to have compartmentation weaknesses had 



fire drill policies and fire wardens in-place. Further fire safety training was undertaken for staff 
with an attempt to shift the culture of the organisation towards fire safety for all RPs. 

Positively, few high rise structures have been found to have many anomalies from the FRAs.
While it is encouraging that FRAs and actions resulting from these are being made publicly 
available, this is inconsistent amongst landlords and amongst types of property. The task 
group believes that all residents should benefit from the information and reassurance provided 
by these assessments. 

Recommendation 1: The council and registered providers in Brent should publish the 
latest Fire Risk Assessments for all of their properties on an ongoing basis.

Fire Prevention
It was accepted by all who gave evidence to the group that landlords are ultimately responsible 
for fire safety. The London Fire Brigade (LFB) has a limited role in risk assessment, however, 
and has the power to shut down properties with a prohibition notice (under Article 31 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005). This is issued where the use of the premises 
may constitute an imminent risk of death or serious injury to the persons using them. This may 
be a restriction of use, for example imposing a maximum number of persons allowed in the 
premises, or a prohibition of a specific use of all or part of the premises, for example prohibiting 
the use of particular floors or rooms for sleeping accommodation.

Any building over 18 metres in height is required by law to have fire proof lifts, which are 
contained within a concrete block with an independent power supply. However, the LFB 
discourages the use of lifts during a fire event. 

The Borough Commander told the task group that he believed licensing for landlords has 
raised safety standards for properties where the landlords had obtained licenses, while 
unlicensed properties were felt to have lower safety standards. There have been a number of 
incidents across Brent of unscrupulous private sector landlords who have let substandard 
properties, and other councillors identified to the task group, in informal conversations, 
properties across Brent where they believe the extension of licensing for landlords would be 
useful, as well as highlighting the need to improve uptake in areas where it is already in force. 

For these reasons, the task group feels that it is of the greatest importance that the council 
does everything it can to incentivise landlords to obtain a licence, and to discourage landlords 
from letting properties without a licence. It should also seek to ensure tenants know as much 
as possible about the obligations of their landlords in this respect.

Recommendation 2: In wards where the landlord licensing scheme is in force, the 
council should continue work to raise tenants’ awareness of it (and more widely if it is 
expanded beyond these wards). It should also publish a “plain English” guide for 
tenants on landlords’ obligations under the scheme.

Recommendation 3: The council should better publicise the existing systems for 
residents to anonymously report non-compliant landlords under the landlord licence 
scheme.

The Borough Commander advised the task group that any fire risk assessment should be 
based on residents’ capacity to respond to emergencies, rather than a generic response for 
the property. In this spirit, he explained that the LFB is moving towards collecting information 



about residents after an incident, especially vulnerable people. A personal emergency plan 
exists for each vulnerable person, with the local fire brigade provided notification of their 
location and vulnerability. The task group felt that it was important for this information to be 
regularly updated.

In terms of housing allocation, a medical assessment is undertaken by the district medical 
officer to assess the suitability of a property within a five tier classification for assessing client 
needs. A review of fixed term tenancy will be undertaken from April 2018, which could 
potentially impact on allocations policy.

Recommendation 4: The council and registered providers should work with care 
providers to ensure that the London Fire Brigade has up-to-date information about 
vulnerable tenants and leaseholders.

Recommendation 5: The council and registered providers should review the 
appropriateness of fire detection systems in properties based on the specific needs of 
their tenants and leaseholders. 

Storage of bulky items
Bulky items stored in communal areas can pose a fire risk, or an obstruction to escape in the 
event of a fire. The landlords which provided evidence to the task group stated that they took 
a “zero tolerance” approach to items kept in common areas, with a notice provided to clear 
any relevant items within 24 hours. Fly tipping is a significant issue in some estates with CCTV 
being installed to gather evidence for enforcement purposes, though there have been no 
successful cases completed in court thus far. 

However, whilst the task group was pleased to note the approach of the RPs contributing to 
the task group, it remains concerned that other providers may not be so proactive in their 
attitudes towards bulky items in communal areas, and feels that this requires further effort 
overall.

Storage space is clearly an important factor in this regard, particularly for vulnerable residents 
who may rely on bulky equipment. For example, Network Homes have purpose built structures 
for mobility scooters within sheltered properties, while Catalyst Housing has created a list of 
vulnerable tenants, with plans to create extra storage space separate from their properties. 

The council has stated that it will review the additional provision for storage of bulky items 
based on the FRAs undertaken this year.

Recommendation 6: All landlords should take a “zero tolerance” approach to bulky 
items kept in common areas.

Recommendation 7: All social landlords should provide storage space for bulky items 
for all property types and sizes.

Recommendation 8: The council should continue to develop plans and seek funding 
for secure bicycle storage units across the borough.

Emergency vehicle access 
The issue of illegal parking in locations meant for the use of emergency vehicles was identified 
by members as an important area of focus, for both council and RP estates. The necessary 



road markings to prohibit parking in these locations are often unclear, and some areas in which 
parking is prohibited are not explicitly marked as such. These require immediate attention from 
social landlords to ensure high standards in safety for all Brent residents.

Parking contractors issue permits for residents and visitors, and provide enforcement where 
parking rules are broken. These include Parking Charge Notices. Wing Parking is the 
contractor for the council’s estates as well as some RPs, and its enforcement includes 
increased patrols during event days. However, this has limitations. For example, on council 
estates enforcement is undertaken only between 6am and 10pm. The task group heard that 
gathering evidence late at night can be difficult, as poor light makes it hard to take photos as 
necessary evidence.

As can be seen in Annex 3, over a period between 2013 and 2017, 9579 parking offences 
were recorded in council estates. Of these, 984 (over 10%) related to parking in areas or 
positions where this was not permitted (as opposed to lacking the relevant permit or disabled 
badge). Whilst it cannot be known how many of these would have obstructed the access of a 
fire engine into the estate, this nonetheless demonstrates that better communication is 
required to inform residents where they should not park, and stronger policies and practice to 
deter them from doing so - particularly when this can impede the emergency services. These 
principles apply to both council and RP estates.

Recommendation 9: The council and registered providers should act to reduce 
unauthorised parking in areas for the use of emergency services, including: 

 clearer and better maintained signage and markings to identify those areas 
permitted for car parking, and all those areas which are to be kept clear

 improving awareness of traffic and parking rules, and
 stronger enforcement of parking rules.

Resident awareness
In addition to the findings above, the task group felt that there were a number of other actions 
available to improve the levels of awareness and measures to enhance fire safety in Brent. 
The Chair of the group informally consulted residents at the Brent Connects meeting in 
Willesden Library in November 2017, and found that a worrying proportion of those responding 
 (around half) could not confirm that had a smoke alarm, or that they tested it on at least a 
monthly basis. 

This was far from statistically robust research, and the sample group likely contained mostly 
owner-occupiers and a smaller proportion of private tenants, with very few social tenants. 
Nonetheless, it supported a concern amongst the task group members that levels of 
awareness of basic fire safety are far from where they should be, and this remains a 
continuous challenge which requires further effort to address. 

Recommendation 10: The council and registered providers should regularly use their 
communication channels to inform and raise the awareness of residents in relation to 
fire safety.

Recommendation 11: The council and registered providers should provide, in the main 
entrance of all types of property, floor plans identifying the location of fire exits, and 
clearly and simply explaining what to do in case of a fire.



Annex 1 Cause of fire incidents from FY13/14 - 16/17

Ignition Source Group 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Not confirmed 285 223 266 303

Cooker 104 107 93 110
Electrical distribution 61 57 51 51
Other ignition source 46 38 58 46

Vehicle related 39 26 35 37
Smoking related 44 40 46 37

Matches and Candles 25 23 32 24
Other item 12 17 16 17

Kitchen appliances 19 25 24 16
Lighting 12 10 13 15

White goods 8 15 15 9
Heating appliances 11 8 7 7

Domestic appliances 1 1 4 3
DIY 3 3 3 3

Audio-Visual 1 1 3 1
Grand Total 671 594 666 679

Source: London Fire Brigade

Annex 2 Cause of death from fire in residential properties from FY13/14-16/17

Property Class Ignition Source Group 2013/14  2014/15  2015/16  2016/17 
Matches and Candles 0 0 0 1

Not confirmed 0 0 1 0
Dwelling

Smoking related 1 0 0 0
Other Residential Smoking related 0 0 1 0
Grand Total 1 0 2 1

Source: London Fire Brigade



18

Annex 3 

Parking Offences on council estates between 2013 – 2017

No 
Parking 
Permit

Not Clearly 
Displaying a 
Valid Permit

Not Parked in 
a Designated 
Area

Obstruct
ive 
Parking

Parked on 
Cross 
Hatching

Parked on 
Yellow 
Lines

Parking in Disabled Bay 
without clearly displaying 
a Valid Disabled Badge

Parking in No 
Parking area

Unauthorised 
Parking

Grand 
Total

Grand Total 4164 4356 22 30 52 198 75 677 5 9579





Housing Scrutiny Committee 
16 January 2018

 

Report from the Strategic Director 
of Community Wellbeing

Oversight of Registered Providers Operating in Brent

Wards Affected: All
Key or Non-Key Decision: N/A
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices: 1
Background Papers: N/A
Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Geeta Le Tissier, Housing Partnerships, 
geeta.letissier@brent.gov.uk

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1. Housing Scrutiny Committee seeks to have an oversight of service delivery in 
the borough as housing is increasingly delivered by a number of landlords, 
including the Council, Registered Providers (RP), private landlords and part-
owned part –rent schemes such as Shared Ownership. 

1.2. The Committee has requested that Registered Providers active in the borough 
report on the level and quality of services they deliver to local residents. It 
plans to take a detailed look at the largest Registered Providers operating in 
the borough over the next quarter, focusing on one landlord every month. 

1.3. In view of the long standing role of Metropolitan Housing Trust (MHT) in Brent 
and the number of residents receiving services from MHT, the first meeting is 
dedicated to a scrutiny of its housing services and resident engagement.

1.4. A Housing Scrutiny Meeting dedicated to Fire Safety took place in November 
2017 and although of importance, it is not the main focus of this review.  

mailto:geeta.letissier@brent.gov.uk


2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee welcomes the representatives from MHT, note 
and consider the contents of this report and any report and/or information to 
be presented by MHT representatives.      

2.2 That the Scrutiny Committee asks MHT representatives questions they 
consider relevant, bearing in mind the information presented.

2.3. That the Scrutiny Committee consider making recommendations to both MHT 
and Council officers, on action(s) they consider necessary.

3.0 Background 

3.1      Metropolitan Housing Trust has a history of community development and its 
ethos is rooted in its beginnings when it focused on providing housing for the 
Caribbean community. 

3.2      Metropolitan Housing Trust (MHT) owns 1648 homes in the borough. It 
acquired the freehold of Chalkhill Estate in a Trickle Transfer in the 1990s. A 
list of properties on the Chalkhill Estate is appended at Appendix 1. However, 
the full list of its stock in Brent has been requested from MHT and should be 
available for the Committee meeting on 16th January 2017.

3.3     Chalkhill Estate was regenerated through the stock transfer to MHT with part 
of the estate being redeveloped and some blocks refurbished. The estate is 
well managed on a day to day basis.  

3.4. The Trust has seen a high degree of organizational change which is only just 
bedding down. Geeta Nanda was appointed Chief Executive and started with 
the Trust in October 2017 and is currently touring the country speaking to staff 
teams and stakeholders, sharing her vision. She comes with an impressive 
track record and the Council looks forward to working with the new leadership 
team and to forging a renewed and strong partnership. A new Director of 
Customer Services has also been appointed. 

3.5. The Housing Scrutiny Panel sent a survey to key RPs active in Brent in order 
to obtain an overview of scale of activities, service delivery and current 
strategy. This is in the context of the strategic overview role held by Local 
Authorities.  

3.6. Metropolitan Housing Trust owns and manages general needs dwellings for 
rent, supported housing schemes in the form of extra care homes.  MHT was 
sent the survey requiring information about its stock data and condition, its 
resident strategy, its governance arrangements, its complaints procedures 
and its community development and a number of other indicators of 
performance. However, to date a response has not yet been received by the 
Council.



3.7.    On the 1st July 1996 MHT and LBB entered into a Deed of Covenant (the 
Deed). Under the terms of the Deed MHT agreed (amongst other things) to 
make available to the former Bison Estate tenants the ability to purchase their 
new properties built on the Chalkhill Estate at a discount.

3.8. Terms agreed within the Deed should have ensured that the Tenants were 
able to acquire their properties at a discount, however the terms set out in the 
scheme were not sufficiently detailed enough to ensure that the sale of the 
properties to local residents could take place. LBB have tried to engage with 
MHT and agree appropriate terms however MHT have not responded 
positively to LBB’s request to provide revised terms.

4.0 Financial Implications 

4.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

5.0 Legal Implications 

5.1     There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

6.0 Equality Implications

6.1 Registered providers shall:

a. treat all tenants with fairness and respect

b. demonstrate that they understand the different needs of their   tenants, 
including in relation to the equality strands and tenants with additional support 
needs.

6.2 There are no equality implications directly arising from this report.

7.0 Consultation with Ward Members and Stakeholders

7.1 Ward members were consulted and they expressed a desire to meet MHT at 
the January 2018 Housing Scrutiny Committee.  

7.2     MHT has provided their recent annual report in support of their improved financial 
situation.  

8.0 Human Resources/Property Implications (if appropriate)

8.1 None

Report sign off:  

PHIL PORTER
Strategic Director of Community 
Wellbeing





Landlord Are Owner No Addl1 Addl2 Addl3 Pcode

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 1 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 5 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST (PERM) CHK ASSOC 22 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 24 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 26 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 27 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 30 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 32 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 33 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 41 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 51 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DN

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 52 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DN

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 55 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DN

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 59 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DN

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 61 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DW

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 71 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DW

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 77 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DW

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 80 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DW

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 84 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DW

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK Z 96 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DW

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 118 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 122 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 124 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 126 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 130 BARNES WALLIS COURT, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 24 BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 66 BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 76 BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 88 BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK Z 178 BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DR

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 3 BOYLE HOUSE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 8 BOYLE HOUSE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 6 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 8 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 10 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 13 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 17 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 24 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 25 BUDDINGS CIRCLE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EL

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 19 CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DS

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 63 CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AU

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 8 CURIE HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AT

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 16 CURIE HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AT

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 28 CURIE HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AT

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 46 CURIE HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AT

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 58 CURIE HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AT

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 5 DARWIN HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AX

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST (PERM) CHK ASSOC 7 DARWIN HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AX

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 19 DARWIN HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AX

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 21 DARWIN HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AX

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 31 DARWIN HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AX

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 41 DARWIN HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AX

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 24 DAVY HOUSE, THE DRIVE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 28 DAVY HOUSE, THE DRIVE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 42 DAVY HOUSE, THE DRIVE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 7 DEMETA CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 13 DEMETA CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK Z 2 EDISON HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 4 EDISON HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 6 EDISON HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 8 EDISON HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 15 EDISON HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DJ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 8 EINSTEIN HOUSE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AZ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 13 EINSTEIN HOUSE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AZ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 10 FARADAY HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA0 9AY

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 18 FARADAY HOUSE, KINGSGATE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA0 9AY

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 5 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 7 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 9 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP



METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 10 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 12 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 18 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 21 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 23 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 27 FARNBOROUGH CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9UP

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 1 FLEMING HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST. (PERM) CHK ASSOC 7 FLEMING HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 13 FLEMING HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 14 FLEMING HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 15 FLEMING HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DQ

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 43 FORTY LANE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EU

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 51 FORTY LANE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EU

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 55 FORTY LANE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EU

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 61 FORTY LANE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EU

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 63 FORTY LANE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EU

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 7 GERVASE CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EH

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 19 GERVASE CLOSE WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9EH

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 27 HARVEY HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AS

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 31 HARVEY HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AS

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 39 HARVEY HOUSE, HAVENWOOD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9AS

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 10 LISTER HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DH

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 1 PEACE GROVE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9FE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 2 PEACE GROVE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9FE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 6 PEACE GROVE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9FE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 8 PEACE GROVE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9FE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 12 PEACE GROVE, CHALKHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9FE

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 3 PRIESTLEY HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DF

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 4 PRIESTLEY HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DF

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 6 PRIESTLEY HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DF

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 12 PRIESTLEY HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DF

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 3 RUTHERFORD HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DG

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 7 RUTHERFORD HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DG

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 8 RUTHERFORD HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DG

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK ASSOC 11 RUTHERFORD HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DG

METROPOLITAN HOUSING TRUST CHK LEASB 13 RUTHERFORD HOUSE, BARNHILL ROAD WEMBLEY MIDDLESEX HA9 9DG



Housing Scrutiny Committee
16 January 2018

 

Report from the Strategic Director 
of Community Wellbeing

Update on Scrutiny Task Group Report on  Housing 
Associations in Brent

Wards Affected: All
Key or Non-Key Decision: N/A
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices: 0
Background Papers: N/A

Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Phil Porter, Strategic Director Community Wellbeing, 
phil.porter@brent.gov.uk; Hakeem Osinaike, Operational Director 
Housing, hakeem.osinaike@brent.gov.uk, John Magness, Head of 
Supply and Partnerships, john.magness@brent.gov.uk

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1     This report updates Housing Scrutiny Committee on the changes made to the 
Council’s work with Housing Associations in Brent, and relates these to the 
recommendations in the scrutiny task group report of July 2016.

1.2     The Council has changed its approach to working with Housing Associations 
significantly since the report was written and it has done this in line with wider 
developments in the sector.  It is important to note that these developments 
were not always as planned, for example, the extension of Right to Buy to 
Housing Associations has not progressed, been extended, as was expected 
when the report was written.   

2.0 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 The Scrutiny Task Group Report on Brent’s Housing Associations made a 
number of recommendations grouped into appropriate themes.   Committee 
Members are asked to note and comment on the update on each as well as 
the broader update on the work the Council does with Housing Associations.  

mailto:phil.porter@brent.gov.uk
mailto:hakeem.osinaike@brent.gov.uk
mailto:john.magness@brent.gov.uk


3.0 Detail 

3.1      The context for the detailed update against each recommendation is that the 
Community Wellbeing Department, in particular housing, have worked hard to 
transform the relationship with Housing Associations as we recognised at the time 
we needed a more proactive and positive relationship in order to achieve the aims 
set out in the Housing Strategy, including, to: 

• increase the supply of affordable housing in Brent
• improve the standard of social housing in Brent,
• develop resident engagement to drive improvements in social housing 
and housing management, and 
• join up services and support which improve the wellbeing of residents, 
and make the links to Council wellbeing services and support, for example, 
financial inclusion services, health promotion, children and adult safeguarding.

3.2      CWB has done this through three primary mechanisms: 
1. Six monthly strategic meetings between the Council (Cabinet Member 
for Housing and Welfare Reform, Strategic Director Community Wellbeing and 
Operational Director Housing).  These meeting explicitly address the priorities 
set out above 
2. Reviewed and relaunched the Housing Association forum in Brent as 
the Housing Strategy and Delivery Board, which is chaired by a Housing 
Association director and supported by the Housing Supply and Partnerships 
team
3. Re-focused the Housing Supply and Partnerships team to take on 
wider engagement remit, providing the staff resource to drive the actions 
coming out of 1 and 2 to deliver the objectives set out in 3.1 above.   
However, they also have the remit to help with individual resident enquiries 
and complaints where the Housing Association is not picking them up and act 
as the access point for Housing Associations to all services in the council.    

3.3     The table below provides an update against the specific recommendations in 
line with these broader changes.

          
1. Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing convenes a working party 
dedicated to Right to Buy (RtB) with 
registered providers which meets to 
monitor the impact of the policy in 
Brent and helps to mitigate any 
potential problems which are caused.

The RtB extension was not 
implemented as extensively as 
expected, so the continues focus  for 
RtB is largely LA owned stock rather 
than the majority of RP owned stock.  
The council continues to look at 
methods of mitigating the effects of 
RtB on stock developed to replace 
property lost through this statutory 
obligation.   When the extension is 
prioritised we will be in a good position 
to work with our HA partners as 
required. 

2. Cabinet Member for Housing sets 
out a common position to all registered 
providers operating in Brent that the 

As set out above, in the strategic 
meetings we are very clear about the 
housing supply need.   In addition, 



local authority would like homes of four 
bedrooms or more, specially adapted 
housing, and older people’s housing 
exempted from the Right to
Buy.

recent analysis of Housing Needs in 
Brent has further improved our 
understanding of need and we will be 
communicating this to all partners in 
the borough.   

3. Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing and Cabinet Member for 
Housing develop agreements with 
housing associations and the Greater 
London Authority which maximise the 
number homes replaced in Brent, 
including four-bedroom properties, as 
well as homes for social rent.

See 2 above. The Cabinet Member,  
Strategic Director and Operational 
Director convene regular meetings 
with senior Directors in all major Has 
in the Borough and are clear that Brent 
wants to work with them to bring 
forward the right developments.   
These meetings are beginning to bear 
fruit as major RPs are now in 
discussion with the Council on major 
developments and regeneration.

4. Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing invites housing associations 
operating in Brent to fund jointly an 
anti-fraud investigator for a time-
limited period to help housing 
associations’ investigations into Right 
to Buy fraud and offer free training for 
staff on fraud and speculative buying 
practices.

See answer to 1 above.  We have 
been clear that we are ready to 
provide expertise as required and the 
Housing Strategy and Delivery Board, 
provides the forum for these issues to 
be escalated.   

5. Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnership to consider integrating 
Right to Buy into Brent’s financial 
inclusion strategy so that tenants are 
better informed about interest rates, 
mortgages, cost of major works, 
responsibility for repairs, and the 
operation of companies who 
encourage purchasing of homes under 
Right to Buy.

The Director of Policy, Performance 
and Partnership has been 
commissioned to carry out a review of 
how Financial Inclusion functions 
across the council can be aligned to 
look more holistically at people’s 
needs.

6. Cabinet Member for Housing 
requests that housing associations 
advise tenants of their financial 
options, and inform them of the wider 
responsibilities of becoming a
leaseholder as part of the purchasing 
process for Right to Buy.

This is a requirement of the Homes 
and communities Agency and the HAs 
already provide full details of 
Leaseholder obligations.   Additionally 
a leaseholder cannot obtain a 
mortgage without full information 
concerning financial details.

7. Cabinet Member for Housing 
ensures a working party of registered 
providers convened around the Right 
to Buy extension shares information 
and expertise about properties going 
into the private rented sector.

See answers to 1 and 4, the Housing 
Strategy and Delivery Board, provides 
the forum for these discussions as 
required.   

8. The Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing and Lead Member for 

In the strategic discussions we have 
found HAs to be responsive and 



Housing to initiate further discussions 
with other London local authorities 
about collaborative arrangements for 
the provision of social housing in the 
future.

aligned to the aims we are trying to 
achieve.  Should there be a need to 
tackle this from a multi-borough 
perspective we will do so.   

9. Brent’s Cabinet Member for 
Housing to consider setting up a forum 
for smaller
housing associations to be able to gain 
expertise and knowledge in business 
planning and other areas from the 
larger registered providers operating in 
Brent.

The Housing Strategy and Delivery 
Board is an inclusive forum, and the 
agenda is developed by participant 
HAs, so this can be tackled there as 
required.   Until this point, this has not 
been requested, which may be 
because there are other sources of 
information / expertise.

10. Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Strategic Director Community 
Wellbeing put in place mechanisms to 
signpost residents to information about 
the Community Land Trust Network 
and Federation Confederation of 
Cooperative Housing and self and 
custom-build networks and organises 
a one-off event to stimulate interest in 
developing other social housing 
models.

As part of the housing supply action 
plan, this will be considered, but the 
pressures on supply and the 1000 
affordable homes a year target, mean 
that larger scale initiatives have taken 
precedence.

11. The Strategic Director for 
Community Wellbeing commissions a 
feasibility study
about developing affordable self-build 
on marginal areas of council owned-
land which is not suitable for its own 
house building programme.

The Housing department has 
commissioned research on 
affordability in 2017 as part of 
developing the new housing supply 
action plan.  This has taken 
precedence as it provides the 
framework to understand what supply 
to focus on, the Supply and 
Partnerships team have been working 
on key supply routes as a result of 
this, and will be able to consider 
smaller scale opportunities like this in 
2018.   

12. Brent Council to update its 
Housing Strategy 2014-19 to weight 
available council owned land not 
intended for the council’s own house-
building programme towards housing 
association or partnership 
developments which house social 
tenants and vulnerable people in line 
with the council’s political 
commitments.

The revised Housing Strategy 2018-23 
is reconfirms the target for 1000 units 
of affordable accommodation per 
annum.   The strategy does not define 
the use of Council land, which is set 
out in the Council’s Strategic Asset 
Management Strategy.   However, the 
supply action plan identifies a range of 
supply routes for delivering the target 
and has increased the focus on use of 
Council land.  Also, through the work 
of the One Public Estate programme, 
the CCG and Council are nearing the 



conclusion of a piece of work to align 
their asset strategies, in order to 
prioritise land for development for a 
range of developments including 
housing.   

13. Brent Council to continue to work 
closely with social landlords in the 
borough to evaluate the effects of 
welfare reform, in particular the overall 
benefit cap, and to develop 
appropriate processes and procedures 
that facilitate the achievement of this.

The Head of Housing Needs and the 
Head of Revenues and Benefits, are 
working together, with other key 
partners, to address the effect of 
welfare reforms on Brent residents.

14. Cabinet Member for Housing to 
request that housing associations 
operating in Brent report regularly to 
the council outlining any progress they 
are considering in implementing Pay to 
Stay.

This issue will be an Agenda item on 
the Housing Development and 
Strategy Board in 2018.

15. Cabinet Member for Housing 
organises more frequent forums 
around specific issues such as rents, 
welfare reform and employment as 
well as linking with London wide 
housing groups so there can be a 
useful exchange of information and 
expertise.

This is already in place and a number 
of meetings have taken place.

16. The Strategic Director of 
Community Wellbeing organises a 
housing summit each year to bring 
together all the registered providers in 
the borough in addition to the regular 
quarterly forum meetings.

The new Housing Development and 
Strategy Board was launched in 2017 
which meets quarterly and considers 
all issues of this nature. Additionally 
the Strategic Director has regular 
scheduled meetings with senior 
leaders within all of the locally active 
HAs.  There has not been a great deal 
of interest in an annual forum as HAs 
prefer bi-lateral meetings to focus on 
specific projects, however, work on a 
wider Homelessness Summit is 
underway and will take place in 2018.

17. In collaboration with housing 
associations, Brent Council develops 
mechanisms that will enable housing 
association tenants to share their 
concerns and service
priorities.

Scrutiny panel will be meeting senior 
leaders from relevant RPs early in 
2018 which will provide the opportunity 
to progress this issue.

18. Cabinet Member for Housing to 
write to housing associations to 
encourage
tenants’ representation at the board 
level of housing associations by 

The importance of tenants’ 
representation and equally importantly, 
tenant experience driving housing 
management services is a focus for all 
the strategic meetings, which was 



bottom-up
elections.

seen as a more productive way of 
raising the issues and looking for 
potential solutions than a letter.   

19. Cabinet Member for Housing to 
develop a partnership model which is 
more weighted towards those 
providing in-demand tenures and 
housing.

As a result of the strategic meetings 
(and being clear about this priority in 
those meetings), and the work of the 
Housing Supply and Partnerships 
team, a number of specific projects are 
now being jointly with HAs.   

   
4.0 In addition to the recommendations above a number of questions were raised

4.1 Number of properties sold by Brent RPs under right to buy from FY15 – FY 
17;
2016/17 – The figure was in the band 0-10 units at 7 units
2015/16 – The figure was in the band 0-10 units at 12 units
These figures have been derived from the Statistical Data Return from the 
HCA and published by DCLG. 

4.2  Pay to stay – number of RP households affected; the proposal for Compulsory 
Pay to Stay was abandoned and there have been no known plans to 
introduce it on a Voluntary basis in Brent.

4.3 Right to stay - number of BHP/Brent Council households affected before the 
policy was made non-compulsory for Council’s in Nov 2016. The Council 
introduced Fixed Term tenancies in 2012 and as the 5 year tenancies are now 
coming to an end, officers are now looking to apply agreed criteria to decide 
on renewals. 

4.4 Effect of social rent reduction (1% rent reduction) for RPs– number of affected 
properties, total loss of revenue.  It has not been possible to establish this 
information.

Report sign off:  

PHIL PORTER
Strategic Director of Community 
Wellbeing



Housing Scrutiny Committee
16 January 2018

 
Report from the Strategic Director 

of Performance Policy & 
Partnerships

Proposed appointments as co-opted members

Wards Affected: All
Key or Non-Key Decision: N/A
Open or Part/Fully Exempt:
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act)

Open

No. of Appendices: 0
Background Papers: N/A
Contact Officer(s):
(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Mark Cairns, Policy & Scrutiny Manager, 
mark.cairns@brent.gov.uk

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 The paper sets out proposed co-opted members to the committee, following a 
selection process as previously agreed by members.

2.0 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the committee proposes that Michele Lonergan is appointed as its 
leaseholder co-optee, and Karin Jaeger as its tenant co-optee, at the Council 
meeting on 22nd January 2018.

3.0 Detail 

3.1    Following the decision of Cabinet in April 2017 that housing management services to 
the council’s tenants and leaseholders would be provided by the council itself, the 
Housing Scrutiny Committee was established during the May 2017 Council 
meeting, and allowed for co-optees to be included as the committee saw 
appropriate. Having taken into account the views of the BHP member-resident 
panel, and following discussion at the committee’s work planning meeting, the 
committee agreed at its meeting on 27th July 2017 that it was important to 
ensure the voices of council tenants and leaseholders continue to be heard, by 
co-opting one of each to the committee.  



3.2     Drawing upon the experience of other authorities, members decided to select 
co-optees on the basis of their skills and experience appears to yield the best 
chance of valuable contributions to the work of the committee. 

3.3 An advertisement inviting applications was placed on the council website, as well 
as in BHP’s Your Voice e-newsletter which was delivered to tenants and 
leaseholders. Following an initially low number of applications, the deadline was 
extended from August to November, and the advertisement was circulated via 
text message to tenants and leaseholders. As this meant that co-optees would 
only be able to join the committee from February 2018 onwards, the term of the 
co-options was extended till the end of the 2018/19 municipal year. These steps 
led to a greater number of applications being received.

3.9 Following an exercise to remove one incomplete application and another from 
a resident living outside of Brent, the chair, along with Cllr Hylton and the 
council’s Policy & Scrutiny Manager interviewed applicants, according to 
relevant knowledge, skills and experience criteria which had been identified in 
the application pack. 

3.10 The panel was very impressed with the calibre of candidates they interviewed, 
and was grateful to all of those tenants and leaseholders who were willing to 
offer their time and insight to help the committee in its work. After a very difficult 
decision, they are pleased to propose that Michele Lonergan (leaseholder), and 
Karin Jaeger (tenant) be appointed to the committee as co-optees.

4.0 Financial Implications 

4.1 As agreed at Full Council in May 2017 the cost of the co-opted member 
allowances will be £226 per person (which is the same as the for education 
co-opted members on the Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee). 
Schedule 1 (p328), Part 8 of the Constitution, sets out the payment for each 
co-opted member at £226 per person. The maximum cost is expected to be 
£452 in any one financial year for these co-optees (i.e. £266 for 2 members).  
The cost of the allowances will be funded from, and can be contained within, 
the overall Members Allowances budget.

5.0 Legal Implications 

5.1 The Council has the power to co-opt people from outside the council to sit on 
scrutiny committees. The appointment of co-opted members is a non-
delegable Full Council function and the persons appointed would not be 
permitted to vote.

6.0 Equality Implications

6.1 Appointed Co-opted members will be supported to ensure that they fully 
understand their role and responsibilities.



Report sign off:  

PETER GADSDON
Director of Performance Policy & 
Partnerships




	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) rent setting
	7 Fire Safety Task Group Report
	07a. Appendix: Task Group on Fire Safety of Low-Rise Domestic Properties

	8 Brent based Registered Providers (RP) delivery of social housing
	08a. Appendix: Brent Based Registered Providers (RP) Delivery of Social Housing

	9 Brent’s Housing Associations: scrutiny task group report (July 2016)
	10 Review short-listed candidates as co-opted members for the Committee

